FILED
SID J. WHITE
JAN 4 1995
CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

WILLIAM T. CHARNOCK, Appellant,

v.

THE FLORIDA BAR, Appellee.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT WILLIAM T. CHARNOCK

ON APPEAL FROM THE REPORT OF THE REFEREE CASE NO: 81,857
TFB CASE NO. 93-30,100 (05B)

LAW OFFICES OF JAMES MARTIN BROWN JAMES MARTIN BROWN, ESQUIRE ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT 211 SOUTH MAIN STREET BROOKSVILLE, FL 34601 FLORIDA BAR NO: 228524

I.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A complaint alleging ethical misconduct against Respondent was submitted to The Florida Bar Disciplinary Office in Orlando under the signature of Attorney Jeffrey P. Cario as attorney for both the party foreclosing a lien on the subject property and the putative buyer of such property at foreclosure sale, the same having been executed by Attorney Cario on 21 July, 1992. At roughly the same time Attorney Cario filed a complaint with the Office of the State Attorney in Brooksville against Respondent repeating those same allegations contained within his letter to The Bar Disciplinary Office, seeking criminal prosecution and bypassing the filing of a complaint with the Hernando County Sheriff's Department.

Attorney Cario's letter to the Disciplinary Office in Orlando was processed, forwarded to Respondent and a written reply was submitted by Respondent directly to Attorney Cario with a copy to Bar Staff Counsel on 15 August, 1992, denying any violation of the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar.

Attorney Cario's complaint and the Respondent's reply were forwarded to Fifth Circuit Grievance Committee "B" and a probable cause hearing was scheduled for 11 February, 1993. Pursuant to discussions between Counsel for Respondent and Bar Staff Counsel, probable cause finding was waived by stipulation and consent

agreement for the matter to proceed to hearing before a Referee for resolution.

Following Respondent's waiver of probable cause hearing a complaint was propounded by Bar Staff Counsel and filed in this Court on 28 May, 1993. Respondent has maintained his denial of the allegations of rule violations specified in the complaint and the parties exchanged requests for admission narrowing the issues to be determined by the Referee and to simplify the evidentiary hearing in this cause.

Evidentiary hearing upon the complaint was commenced before the Referee on 11 February, 1994, continuing throughout that day and resuming for an additional full day of testimony and production of evidence on 30 March, 1994. Testimony was presented from the Respondent on each day of the hearing and additional testimony was presented by three witnesses for The Florida Bar and six witnesses for Respondent. Testimony by Affidavit was presented on behalf of The Bar from Elizabeth Best, Esquire, and her former partner, Charlotte Anderson, Esquire, and on behalf of Respondent from Richard S. Fitzpatrick, Esquire, as an accepted expert witness in real property law and practice. Five exhibits were received into evidence upon motion of The Bar and ten exhibits were presented by Respondent. By consent of the parties the Court reviewed the entire contents of Hernando County Circuit Court Case #91-1551-CA-01

styled Ruthenberg v. Pelycado Onroerend Goed, B.V., that case being the underlying action within which each of the events relative to the complaint and Respondent's defense occurred. Upon conclusion of the presentation of all testimony and other evidence it was agreed between parties that Summation and Final Argument would be presented to the Referee in written form.

The summation and final argument addressed four distinct issues. With regard to the first issue of whether there was any unethical conduct on behalf of the Respondent in the execution of the affidavit the referee found that there was no unethical conduct. RR-4. The second issue was whether the affidavit of Todd Shoen was a false affidavit or contained perjured statements. The referee found that it was not a false affidavit nor did it contain perjured statements by Todd Shoen. RR-5. In addressing the third issue the referee founds that Rule 1.580 would allow a bona fide lessee under a valid contract who does not have actual possession to enforce his rights to possession. RR-6.

However, the referee did find that the procurement of a tenant, entering into the lease and directing and securing the affidavit of said tenant, all for the purpose of utilizing Rule 1.580 thereby delaying the transfer of actual possession pursuant to the writ of possession was unethical conduct with no substantial purpose other than to embarrass, delay or burden a third person,

deceitful, and prejudicial to the administration of justice. In addition, the referee found that the attempt by respondent to shift blame for his actions in procuring and putting Todd Shoen in possession by testifying that another attorney told him to put someone in possession was also unethical in that his testimony was not truthful.

Based on those findings the referee recommended that the Respondent be suspended for a period of ninety days. The Respondent requests a review of the finding of unethical behavior and the referee's recommended discipline.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Respondent received his law degree from the University of Florida in 1987 and was admitted to practice in the State of Florida in 1988. He maintained a practice in Hernando County, Florida, continuously from the time of admission concentrating his practice in the area of real estate transactions and real property law. At all times material to the present complaint, Respondent operated a high volume, solo law practice supported by a secretarial staff, a retired non-lawyer County Court Judge as an independent contractor Law Clerk and an independent contractor paralegal. Commencing in 1991 Respondent had occasion to represent a Dutch consortium incorporated under the laws of Holland under the name Pelycado Onroerend Goed, B.V. in a number of matters concerning acquisition, maintenance and disposition of parcels of real property located within Hernando County, Florida. At all times material to the complaint Respondent maintained a valid Power of Attorney to act on behalf of the Dutch corporation and specifically with the right to negotiate and enter into lease agreements for the Dutch properties located in Hernando County. Respondent routinely entered into short-term lease agreements with third parties on behalf of the Dutch corporation. The real property involved in the civil case underlying the present complaint was purchased by the Dutch corporation, such sale proceeding through closing without the

recording or filing of any liens or other encumbrances. At the time material to this action the property had a fair market value of approximately One Hundred Fifteen Thousand Dollars (\$115,000.00) to One Hundred Twenty Thousand Dollars (\$120,000.00) excluding the contents of the dwelling. A title insurance policy issued for the property showing no liens or other encumbrances. There is no question that the putative lien ultimately foreclosed in the underlying civil case was not filed, recorded or perfected prior to the closing on Pelycado's purchase of the property.

Subsequent to the closing a putative lien was filed by Douglas Ruthenberg d/b/a Castle Pools through the complainant, Jeffrey P. Cario, alleging a construction debt owed to Castle Pools in the approximate amount of Four Thousand Dollars (\$4,000.00). In December, 1990 at the request of the Dutch corporation Respondent searched the county records on seven parcels of property including that parcel involved in the present action and located the putative Four Thousand Dollar (\$4,000.00) lien filed after closing by Ruthenberg/Castle Pools. Respondent then sent certified mail notification to Attorney Cario advising of the legal invalidity of the lien and advising of Respondent's representation of the Dutch corporation concerning the subject property. No reply or further correspondence was sent to Respondent by Attorney Cario's law firm in reply to Respondent's certified notice of representation and

claim of the lien's invalidity. On or about 15 August, 1991, Attorney Cario's law firm filed a complaint to foreclose the said lien in the Circuit Court of Hernando County under that Court's Case #91-1551-CA-01. Notwithstanding the certified mail notice of representation forwarded to the Cario firm by Respondent December, 1990, no copy of the complaint and summons were provided to the Respondent. No attempt was made to personally serve the Dutch corporation and the provisions of Florida Statutes Chapter 48 for foreign service admittedly were not properly followed by Ruthenberg/Castle Pools. The Cario firm did not file a Notice of Action or Affidavit of Diligent Search nor was Notice publication in the local press effected. At the request of Ruthenberg/Castle Pools a local attorney was appointed as Guardian Ad Litem but mistakenly believed through misunderstanding of his staff that proper service could not be effected internationally through mail delivery. Throughout the time period in question Respondent represented the Dutch corporation on other matters concerning parcels of real property within Hernando County, Florida, including litigation involving a lien foreclosure action by the Cario law firm on behalf of Ruthenberg/Castle Pools against Pelycado on a nearby parcel of property which was voluntarily dismissed by the Cario law firm with prejudice.

The lien foreclosure action by Attorney Cario's firm on the subject property was prosecuted by Attorney Cario's firm without actual notice to either the Dutch corporation or the Respondent. Motion for Summary Final Judgment was filed on or about 12/17/91 and granted in hearing without notice to Respondent on 2/12/92 providing for sale to occur on 3/19/92. On 3/19/92 Mr. Gary Schraut-also represented by Attorney Cario's firm-purchased the property foreclosed upon by the Cario firm on behalf of Ruthenberg/Castle Pools for the amount of Eighteen Thousand Two Hundred Dollars (\$18,200.00), the same being roughly One Hundred Thousand Dollars (\$100,000.00) below fair market value.

On or about 31 March, 1992, while using a telephone in Judge's Chambers with the consent of the Judicial Assistant, Respondent observed pleadings in plain view on the Judicial Assistant's desk bearing the name of the Dutch corporation. Upon arrival back in his law office later that afternoon Respondent accessed the computer system and learned for the first time that the Cario firm filed and prosecuted a lien foreclosure action involving the subject property resulting in the purchase of such property by another Cario firm client for approximately 10% of fair market value. Respondent immediately notified the Dutch corporation by international facsimile transmission of what he had learned that afternoon and requested instructions from his client.

In accordance with the instructions received from the client Respondent then prepared and filed the following day a Motion to Quash Service of Process, Motion to Set Aside Foreclosure Sale and Motion to Deny Purchase or Possession and an Order to Stay was entered <u>sua sponte</u> by the Court on 4/2/92 nunc pro tunc 4/1/92. After the submission of various pleadings a Certificate of Title was issued on 4/7/92 bearing the date 3/30/92 and a motion for the issuance of a Writ of Possession was filed by Ruthenberg/Castle Pools on 4/9/92. A number of pleadings and submissions were submitted by the Cario firm on behalf of Ruthenberg and by Respondent on behalf of Pelycado and an Order was ultimately entered by the Court on 5/28/92 appointing a mediator and referring the matter for mediation.

At mediation Pelycado was represented by Respondent and purchaser Schraut and the foreclosing party Ruthenberg were represented by Attorney Cario. Schraut offered to return the property to Pelycado upon condition that Pelycado would pay Schraut the sum of Fifty Five Thousand Dollars (\$55,000.00) plus the approximate Four Thousand Dollar (\$4,000.00) amount of the lien and further conditioned upon the agreement of Pelycado to provide Schraut with a long-term no interest loan in the amount of an additional Fifty Thousand Dollars (\$50,000.00) which offer was refused as extortionate by Respondent on behalf of Pelycado. Notice

of mediation impasse was submitted on 6/22/92 and the following day Ruthenberg moved entry of a Writ of Possession and Order of disbursement.

An Order was entered by the Court on 7/14/92 directing the Cario firm to prepare an Order denying Pelycado's Motion to Quash Service of Process, Motion to Set Aside Foreclosure Sale, Motion to Deny Purchase or Possession and granting Ruthenberg's motion for the Writ of Possession which Writ was signed by the Court on 7/15/92. The Writ of Possession in favor of Schraut was served on 7/16/92.

A copy of the Writ of Possession was forwarded to Respondent bearing U.S. Mail postmark dated 7/16/92.

On 7/15/92 in anticipation of the actual issuance of the Writ of Possession, Respondent sought advice from Attorneys Best and Anderson in Tampa, and in accord with his understanding of their representations entered into a verbal lease agreement with Todd Shoen allowing Shoen's occupancy of the subject property for a period of two weeks for a rental of Three Hundred Dollars (\$300.00), the payment of which in currency is not disputed in the complaint. Respondent transmitted his file in toto through hand delivery to the Best and Anderson firm in Tampa, collected from the client and transmitted to the trust account of Best and Anderson a retainer fee of Fifteen Thousand Dollars (\$15,000.00) on 7/16/92

and a Notice of Appearance on behalf of Pelycado was filed in the Circuit Court of Hernando County in the underlying cause by Attorney Charlotte Anderson on 7/17/92. Respondent's firm prepared an Affidavit for execution by Todd Shoen reciting the provisions of Rule 1.580, Florida Rules of Civil Procedure alleging possession by Shoen of the subject property which Affidavit was executed by Shoen, notarized by Respondent's secretary on 7/15/92 and was then served upon the Hernando County Sheriff's Department by Respondent's staff on 7/16/92. The Writ of Possession in favor of Schraut was served upon the subject property by the Sheriff's Department on 7/16/92.

The complaint admits the existence of the verbal contract between Respondent and Todd Shoen and the uncontradicted testimony adduced at hearing reflects that the agreed upon sum of Three Hundred Dollars (\$300.00) for two week lease was a commercially reasonable amount and time frame for the subject property and its sister properties. An Appeal was filed and perfected on behalf of Pelycado to the Fifth District Court of Appeal which Court issued its opinion under its Case #92-1821 and #92-1822 on April 22, 1994, in favor of Pelycado and reversing the actions of the Trial Court.

On or about 7/21/92 Attorney Cario filed a complaint with The Bar Discipline Office in Orlando alleging that Respondent had falsified the Rule 1.580 Affidavit by Todd Shoen, had suborn

perjury by securing the signature of Mr. Shoen upon such Affidavit, had committed fraud by securing the notarization of such Affidavit by his secretary, Ms. Potts, and had attempted to subvert the administration of justice in the underlying case through the use of such Affidavit. Roughly coincident with the filing of his complaint to The Bar, Attorney Cario bypassed the Hernando County Sheriff's Department and filed a criminal complaint directly with the local State Attorney's Office through Investigator Jane Phifer, also a client of Attorney Cario.

On the basis of interviews conducted by Ms. Phifer an Information was filed by the State Attorney against Respondent under Hernando County Circuit Court Case #92-728-CF charging Respondent with several violations of the criminal law including perjury, false written statement, solicitation of perjury and principal to false acknowledgment by a notary.

A Pre-Trial Intervention Contract was entered into by the State, the Respondent and his Counsel on 15 March, 1993, expressly reciting the agreement of the parties that such contract was a "best-interest" agreement and did not contain any admission of factual or legal guilt to the charges. The Pre-Trial Intervention Agreement called for Respondent to attend and complete a Bar approved law office management course and to complete 3.0 hours of ethics continuing legal education. Respondent completed his

contractual obligations and an Order was then entered in August, 1993 dismissing each of the charges brought against Respondent by the State. With the consent of the State Attorney Respondent maintained his right to petition for the sealing and expunction of all records within the criminal case.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

- 1. The finding that the Respondent's conduct in procuring a tenant for a piece of property thereby delaying an attempt to take possession of said property was unethical is erroneous and unsupported by substantial and competent evidence in the record. The actions by the Respondent did not delay the change in possession of the property, and the attempt to delay such a change in possession was to be accomplished through the valid use of a The purpose of such use was to protect Rule of Civil Procedure. the Respondent's client and was done in the course of zealous Respondent engaged representation. The was representation of his client through the utilization of Rule 1.580 nothing unethical, deceitful, orprejudicial and administration of justice was done. The Respondent's actions were not unethical.
- 2. The Record shows that the Respondent never tried to shift blame from himself for his actions and did not state that the attorney Vetter or attorney Anderson told him to put someone in possession. The Respondent clearly stated that he accepted full responsibility for his actions and that attorneys Vetter and Anderson introduced him to Rule 1.580. As supported by the affidavit of attorney Anderson she told the respondent to read Rule 1.580 and see if it applied. The finding that the Respondent tried

to shift blame from himself or was untruthful is clearly erroneous and unsupported by the record.

- 3. The recommended discipline is clearly excessive in light of the facts of the case and that it fails to meet the goals of discipline. The findings of unethical conduct are clearly erroneous and even if the findings were supported in the record a suspension of ninety days does not meet the goals of discipline. A ninety day suspension unnecessarily deprives society of a competent and zealous attorney. Further, because of the facts of the case such a punishment would inhibit zealous advocacy.
- 4. The referee should have considered those mitigating factors that applied in this case. The referee erred in not considering those factors and those factors should be considered in reviewing the recommendation of the referee.

I. THE FINDING THAT THE RESPONDENT'S CONDUCT IN PROCURING A TENANT FOR A PIECE OF PROPERTY THEREBY DELAYING AN ATTEMPT TO TAKE POSSESSION OF SAID PROPERTY WAS UNETHICAL, DECEITFUL, PREJUDICIAL TO THE ADMINISTRATION OF JUSTICE, AND HAD NO SUBSTANTIAL PURPOSE OTHER THAN TO EMBARRASS, DELAY OR BURDEN A THIRD PERSON ARE CLEARLY ERRONEOUS AND UNSUPPORTED BY COMPETENT SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE WITHIN THE RECORD.

The Florida Bar must prove by clear and convincing evidence that an ethical violation has occurred. The Florida Bar v. Burke, 578 So.2d 1099 (Fla. 1991). Once the referee has made a determination that the Bar has met their burden that finding will not overturned unless the Court finds that it is clearly erroneous or lacking in evidentiary support. The Florida Bar v. Scott, 566 So.2d 765 (Fla. 1990).

The referee make the following findings in his report:

- 1. I find no unethical conduct on behalf of the Respondent in the execution of the affidavit of Todd Shoen. (Page 4)
- 2. The affidavit was not a false affidavit nor did it contain perjured statements by Todd Shoen. (Page 5)
- 3. Rule 1.580 would allow a bona fide lessee under a valid contract who does not have actual possession to enforce his rights to possession. (Page 6).

This leaves the narrow finding that the procurement of a tenant, entering into the lease and directing and securing the affidavit of said tenant, all for the purpose of utilizing Rule 1.580 thereby delaying the transfer of actual possession pursuant

to the writ of possession was unethical conduct with no substantial purpose other than to embarrass, delay or burden a third person, deceitful, and prejudicial to the administration of justice.

It should first be pointed out that no actual delay was effected. The trial judge did not consider the affidavit and possession was transferred. By not actually delaying the proceedings the actions of the Respondent were not prejudicial to the administration of justice. In fact the possession that the Respondent was trying to delay was unjust and eventually reversed by the Fifth District Court of Appeal.

It is the contention of The Florida Bar that Respondent engaged in a course of conduct through entering into the lease agreement with Todd Shoen, securing Mr. Shoen's Rule 1.580 Affidavit and submitting the same to the Sheriff of Hernando County for the purpose of delaying the execution of the Writ of Possession pending hearing was a deliberate attempt on Respondent's part to subvert the due administration of justice.

In accordance wit the other findings made by the referee the Respondent now respectfully submits that his actions were wholly appropriate, well within the requirements of the law and within the purview of the rule requiring zealous representation of a client's interests while avoiding false statements to or fraud upon the tribunal.

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