097

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

F	I	L	E	D,
,		W :: W		2//3
			1995	1
CLER By	K, SL	IPREM	VE CC	URT
	Chief	Deputy	Clerk	

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

Case No. 81,857
[TFB Case No. 93-30,100 (05B)]

v.

WILLIAM T. CHARNOCK,

Respondent.

#### ANSWER BRIEF

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR. Executive Director The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (904) 561-5600 ATTORNEY NO. 123390

JOHN T. BERRY Staff Counsel The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (904) 561-5600 ATTORNEY NO. 217395

#### AND

CARLOS E. TORRES
Bar Counsel
The Florida Bar
880 North Orange Avenue
Suite 200
Orlando, Florida 32801-1085
(407) 425-5424

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

directing inquiries to the respondent and prohibiting entry (T. 2/11/94, Vol. II, p. 228). The respondent then stated he doubted any of his staff posted this note and theorized that Mr. Cario and Mr. Schraut were mistaken about what the note said and that they had it confused with the writ of possession (T. 2/11/94, Vol. II, p. 229). The respondent admitted only that it was his idea to lease the home to Mr. Shoen and prepare an affidavit for him (T. 3/30/94, Vol. II, p. 173).

Similarly, the respondent testified at the grievance committee hearing held on February 11, 1993, that the appellate attorneys told him to "put someone in possession" because the issuance of an order releasing the stay of the execution of the writ of possession was imminent (B-Ex. A p. 45).

Ms. Anderson stated in her affidavit that when she asked the respondent if the property was currently leased and occupied by tenants, he told her it was. Only then did she tell him that Florida Rule of Civil Procedure 1.580 appeared to be applicable to the situation. At no time did she tell him to seek a person to place in possession of the property if no one currently had possession of it (B-Ex. D). Clearly, the referee chose to believe Ms. Anderson's version of the events over the respondent's.

This court's scope of review of a referee's legal conclusions is somewhat broader than that of the findings of fact, The Florida Bar In re Inglis, 471 So. 2d 38 (Fla. 1985). The bar submits the referee's conclusion that the respondent's

conduct was deceitful and prejudicial to the administration of justice was correct and supported by the evidence. The referee found that the respondent was not entitled to procure a tenant and put him in possession of the property to invoke Florida Rule of Civil Procedure 1.580 once the respondent knew the stay of the issuance of the writ of possession had been lifted (RR. p. 6).

The testimony of Jefferey Cario and Sue Bess clearly established that on July 15, 1992, at approximately 9:30 a.m. the order directing the issuance of the writ of possession was transmitted by facsimile to the respondent's office as directed by the court (T. 2/11/94, Vol. II, p.p. 157-159, 164, 177; B-Ex. C). The respondent's secretary, Ruth Ann Applegate, testified that although she recalled the initial transmission from Mr. Cario's office being incomplete, she could not recall if it was resent (T. 3/30/94, Vol. I, p.p. 116-118). Her further testimony indicated the facsimile was successfully received in full because R-Ex. G appeared to have been a facsimile of the unsigned order (T. 3/30/94, Vol. I, p.p. 119-120). This is in contrast to the respondent's assertion that he did not receive Mr. Cario's facsimile but did receive the order on July 15, 1992 (T. 2/11/94, Vol. I, p.p. 192,197).

The respondent testified at some variance that he received the actual writ of possession on July 13, 1992 (T. 2/11/94, Vol. II, p. 193). But then stated he never received the writ but rather received an order on July 13, 1992, directing the writ be prepared (T. 2/11/94, Vol. II, p. 197). The order itself was

executed on July 13, 1992, and the certificate of service shows it was sent by the trial court to the respondent on that date. It directed Mr. Cario's firm to prepare an order issuing the writ of possession and disbursement. The writ was executed by the clerk on July 14, 1992. A copy of the proposed (i.e. unsigned) order vacating lis pendens and order of disbursement was sent by facsimile to the respondent on July 15, 1992. The order approving and confirming the issuance of the writ was executed on July 15, 1992. All of the above information was contained in the record on appeal for Pelycado Onroerend Goed, BV v. Rothenberg.

Mr. Shoen had been residing with the respondent since July 10, 1992 (T. 2/11/94, Vol. II, p.p. 204-205), but it was not until after the respondent knew the stay of the writ possession had been lifted that he decided to lease the subject home to Mr. Shoen. Yet, the respondent's testimony indicated that he believed he had the authority to lease the property while the stay was in effect (T. 2/11/94, Vol. II, p.p. 211-212). respondent knew that by having Mr. Shoen in possession of the property, he could delay the transfer of physical possession to Schraut would need to initiate an Schraut because Mr. eviction proceeding (T. 2/11/94, Vol. II, p. 245). The respondent believed that if possession could be delayed, his anticipated appeal stood a greater chance of succeeding (T. 3/30/94, Vol. II, p. 158). The respondent wanted to accomplish two (2) things by his actions: remove Mr. Shoen from his home and stay the execution of the writ of possession (T. 3/30/94, Vol.

II, p. 176). The bar submits the respondent's creation of the lease to Mr. Shoen was nothing more than a frustrative legal maneuver to stay execution of the writ of possession and obtain a court hearing pursuant to Florida Rule of Civil Procedure 1.580 so as to give the respondent time to file an appeal to have the foreclosure sale rescinded. Rule 1.580 provides that if any tenant is in residence and occupancy of the subject property, the tenant can retain possession by filing with the sheriff an affidavit stating the tenant's entitlement to possession and specifying the nature of the claim. Thereupon, the sheriff will desist from enforcing the writ until the party who caused the issuance of the writ applies to the court for an order directing the sheriff to complete his execution.

The respondent already had obtained one stay of the writ's execution but the trial court, after considerable litigation, found against his client. The bar submits the respondent's conduct was nothing more than an example of "sharp practice" where he knew the court would order the transfer of possession go forward. The respondent could have filed his notice of appeal without resorting to creating a tenant relationship after the stay of the writ had been dissolved. The difference is this would not have resulted in Mr. Schraut incurring additional expenses in initiating an eviction action and paying counsel to attend yet another hearing. The respondent had a right to disagree with the trial court and, ultimately, his client did prevail on appeal. It is the bar's position, however, that the

ends do not justify the means. The judicial system is founded on the principle that "disagreements with the application of law can be corrected by appeals, by collateral attacks, or by petition to the legislature for a change in the law. No attorney is ever privileged to arrogate to himself or herself the right to say with finality what the law is. That prerogative inheres in the courts. Without this principle, our legal system would fall into shambles." Dissenting opinion of Justice Barkett in <u>The Florida</u> Bar v. Wishart, 543 So. 2d 1250, 1253 (Fla. 1989).

The respondent misused rule 1.580. The referee found his actions were deceitful and accomplished without notice to or the knowledge of Mr. Schraut (RR. p.6). The respondent's conduct was prejudicial to the administration of justice (RR. p.6).

The administration of justice is a service rendered by the State to the public and exacts of those who engage in it the highest degree of confidence and good faith... We practice law by grace, not by right. The privilege to practice law is in no sense proprietary. The State may grant it or refuse it, or it may withdraw it from those who abuse it... The administration of justice ... contemplates the righteous settlement of every controversy that arises affecting the life, liberty, or property of the individual ... The administration of justice is the business of the public. Members of the bar are stewards commissioned to perform that business. There stewardship will be successful in proportion to the manner in which they take the public into their confidence and perform it with a fidelity alike to the State, to client and to the profession ... [I]n the conduct of his profession, he will do nothing that will reproach the administration of justice. Lambdin v. State, 9 So. 2d 192, 193 (Fla. 1942).

Obstructing the administration of justice includes

activities which undermine the legitimacy of the judicial process, The Florida Bar v. McLawhorn, 505 So. 2d 1338, 1341 (Fla. 1987). The respondent knew before he entered into the oral lease with Mr. Shoen that the stay had been dissolved by the court and the writ would be issued as soon as possible. Rather than filing the notice of appeal, something for which a delay was not needed, he thrust Mr. Shoen, an innocent bystander, into the middle of an ongoing controversy that resulted in Mr. Shoen being interviewed by an investigator with the State Attorney's Office (B-Ex. A 3) and enduring considerable anxieties about a situation not of his own making (T. 3/30/94, Vol. I, p.p. 89-95).

A frivolous claim has been defined, in part, as being one that is readily recognizable on the face of the record as being so devoid of merit that there is little, if any, prospect whatsoever that it can succeed, Wiggins v. Southern Management Corp., 629 So. 2d 1022,1025 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993), quoting Whitten v. Progressive Casualty Insurance Co., 410 So. 2d 501 (Fla. The bar submits the respondent knew his claim that Mr. 1982). Shoen was entitled to protection under rule 1.580 would fail and he advanced this claim only for the purpose of forcing the court to hold an emergency hearing and delay Mr. Schraut's ability to enforce a validly issued writ of possession. Advancing nonmeritorious claims warrants discipline. For example, in The Florida Bar v. Graves, 541 So. 2d 608 (Fla. 1989), an attorney was suspended for six months and placed on three years probation for engaging in numerous instances of misconduct, including filing frivolous pleadings on behalf of a client in a foreclosure action and unreasonably delaying the sale.

#### ARGUMENT II

THE REFEREE'S RECOMMENDATION OF A 90 DAY SUSPENSION IS APPROPRIATE GIVEN THE FACTS OF THIS CASE.

This court's review of a referee's recommended discipline is broader than its review of the findings because this court has the ultimate responsibility to order the appropriate sanction, Rue, supra.

The bar submits the purposes of discipline would best be served by a suspension of at least 90 days. Those purposes are: protection of the public in a manner that is fair to society both in terms of protecting it from unethical conduct and not denying the services of a qualified lawyer; punishing the wayward attorney in a manner that is both sufficient to punish the ethical breach and encourage reform and rehabilitation; and deterring others from engaging in similar misconduct, The Florida v. Lord, 433 So. 2d 983, 986 (Fla. 1983). Also important is the creation and protection of a favorable image of the legal profession, The Florida Bar v. Larkin, 447 So. 2d 1340 (Fla. 1984). As this court stated in Petition of Wolf, 257 So. 2d 547, 548 (Fla. 1972), the rules "at every turn [place] emphasis upon the protection of the public and the image and integrity of The Florida Bar as a whole." The first purpose of discipline has been somewhat negated by the explosive growth in the bar's membership since 1983. The geographical roster for the Ocala area contained in the September, 1994, issue of The Florida Bar Journal (the directory issue) shows no shortage of lawyers

practicing in Ocala. The purpose set forth in Larkin, supra, is particularly important in the instant case. The respondent's argument throughout this matter implies that the lawyer's role is to do whatever it takes to promote the client's interests. bar submits the public's perception of the facts of this case would most likely be that it is yet another example of an attorney using legal trickery merely to delay a matter at the expense of the other party. A lawyer should not be reduced to being a "hired gun." An attorney is an officer of the court who is sworn to uphold the orderly administration of justice. "There can be no temporizing with an offense the commission of which serves to destruct the judicial process," The Florida Bar v. Rayman, 238 So. 2d 594, 598 (Fla. 1970). As this court stated in Petition of Florida State Bar Association, 40 So. 2d 902,908 (Fla. 1949), "[A] lawyer's responsibility to the public rises above his responsibility to his client."

The respondent's case is somewhat unique in that there is no case law in Florida on point. That case law which is available and the Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions point toward a period of suspension as being the most appropriate level of discipline given the referee's findings that the respondent's conduct was deceitful and prejudicial to the administration of justice. The respondent's prior disciplinary history also acts as an aggravating factor to be considered in imposing the appropriate level of discipline.

In The Florida v. Johnson, 19 Fla. L. Weekly, S606 (Fla.

Nov. 17, 1994), an attorney was suspended for 60 days for engaging in deceitful conduct. The attorney represented his sonin-law in a number of corporate matters. At the request of his son-in-law, the attorney moved into a building he owned. understood between the parties that the attorney would reside there rent free. No lease was executed at the time he took Thereafter, the son-in-law attempted to obtain a possession. loan from a local bank. The lender required certain information and documents concerning tenant leases and tenant affidavits. The son-in-law requested the attorney to execute a lease and affidavit. The attorney complied. However, the lease the attorney executed was not enforceable because the building was owned by the son-in-law and his wife, but the lease was executed only by the son-in-law and did not conform with section 689.01 of the Florida Statutes. The attorney knew the lease was not enforceable as executed and he paid no money pursuant to it. Contrary to what he knew to be true, he then executed a notarized tenant affidavit that expressly indicated there was a valid lease including a monthly rental amount which he was obligated to pay and for which the first and last month's rent had been paid. attorney knew the bank relied upon the tenant affidavit for the purpose of issuing a loan to his son-in-law. The attorney did advise his son-in-law to inform the bank that the lease was not enforceable but he did not himself advise the bank of the circumstances or ensure that his son-in-law did. The court found that although the attorney's affidavit did not cause any harm to

the bank, it was a misrepresentation which constituted a dishonest act.

In The Florida Bar v. Richardson, 591 So. 2d 908 (Fla. 1991), an attorney was suspended for 60 days after he brought a frivolous and malicious federal court claim. The attorney represented the personal representative of an estate. probate judge determined that his fee was excessive and ordered him to make reimbursement. The attorney appealed the decision and argued that the judge lacked jurisdiction to order the refund payment because the had been rendered by the personal representative personally rather than from the estate. District Court of Appeal found this argument to be without merit. After the matter was remanded to the probate court to recalculate the amount of the reimbursement, the attorney again attempted to This appeal was dismissed as being untimely. He next appeal. sought two writs of mandamus from the Supreme Court of Florida, one seeking to compel the District Court of Appeal to reinstate his second appeal and another seeking to vacate the latest judgment entered by the probate judge and to compel the probate court to withdraw jurisdiction. The supreme court denied both Thereafter, the attorney filed a complaint in the United States District Court for the District of Columbia, alleging that the reimbursement order violated his civil rights because of a lack of jurisdiction. He sought one million dollars The federal court in damages as well as injunctive relief. granted the defendants' motions to dismiss. In addition, the

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